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PROPOSED DECISION 

On December 1, 2014, Jennifer M. Russell, Administrative Law Judge with the Office 
of Administrative Hearings, heard this matter in Los Angeles California. 

Linda L. Sun, Deputy Attorney General, represented complainant Virginia Herold in 
her official capacity as Executive Officer, Board of Pharmacy (Board), Department of 
Consumer Affairs, State of California. Respondent Christy Marie Carrillo represented 
herself. 

The Board alleges that respondent is disqualified from continuing registration as a 
pharmacy technician on grounds that respondent's diversion of a controlled substance 
resulted in her conviction for grand theft and that respondent's conduct constitutes, among 
other things, unprofessional conduct in violation of the Pharmacy Law. Respondent admits 
to diverting a controlled substance and did not offer sufficient mitigating or rehabilitation 
~vj9ens;e. 

The matter was submitted for decision on December 1, 2014. The Administrative 
Law Judge makes the following Factual Findings, Legal Conclusions, and Order revoking 
respondent's pharmacy technician registration. 

II 

II 

II 
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FACTUAL FINDINGS 

1. Complainant filed the Accusation and First Amended Accusation in her 
official capacity. 

2. On June 9, 2008, the Board issued Original Pharmacy Technician Registration 
number TCH 83831 to Christy Marie Carrillo to work as a pharmacy technician in 
California. The registration was in full force and effect at all relevant times. The 
registration, which has no history of prior discipline, expires on November 30, 2015. 

3. Respondent is a graduate of Clarita College. Her employment history includes 
work as a sales associate and as a secretary before she secured employment in 2008 at 
Walgreens Pharmacy store number 7870, a retail establishment, as pharmacy technician. 

4. The discharge of a pharmacy technician's duties and responsibilities at a retail 
establishment requires access to drugs, medications, and other pharmaceuticals. A pharmacy 
technician's duties and responsibilities at a retail establishment include, among other things, 
serving customers at an intake window where confidential personal, health, and insurance 
information is received for the processing of prescriptions; counting, labeling, and dispensing 
medications; communicating with prescribing medical doctors' offices; and serving as liaison 
between customers and pharmacists and between pharmacists and physicians. 

5. In summer 2012, respondent was reacquainted with a young man with whom 
she attended the same high school. He learned about respondent's employment at 
Walgreens, repeatedly demanded that respondent provide him with hydrocodone tablets, and 
intimated that respondent's safety and that Of her family would be in jeopardy should she not 
comply with his demands. Respondent became fearful for herself and for her family, but she 
reported the young man's demands and her fears to no one, including the police. 

6. During August through October 2012, and again in January and February 
2013, while performing her duties and responsibilities as a pharmacy technician, respondent 
diverted eight bottles of Hydrocodone/APAP 10/325mg containing no fewer than a total of 
4,000 tablets from the pharmacy stock at Walgreens. Hydrocodone/AP AP is classified as a 
Schedule II controlled substance. 1 Respondent gave the hydrocodone tablets to the young 
man. Respondent received no remuneration in return. · · 

7. A manager noticed a recurring low stock for the medication and that the 
missing stock was not accounted for in the pharmacy's ledgers. The manager determined 
that there was a "shrinkage issue" and contacted loss prevention, which in turn conducted an 
investigation using video surveillance cameras. The video surveillance captured respondent 
removing a bottle of hydrocodone tablets from its usual display shelf and then concealing the 
bottle on another shelf where she was able to abscond with it when she exited the store at the 
conclusion of her work shift. 

1 See Health and Safety Code section 11056, subdivision (e)(4). 
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8. On February 12, 2013, Walgreens' management confronted respondent, and 
respondent admitted, in a written Voluntary Statement, to pilfering six bottles of the 
medication in 2012 and another two bottles in 2013. Each bottle ofHydrocodone/APAP 
10/325mg contained 500 tablets. Respondent signed an Agreement to Repay, in which she 
promised to pay Walgreens restitution in the amount of $2,932.67, and she has done so. On 
February 12, 2013, Walgreens terminated respondent's employment. 

9. As a consequence of respondent's conduct set forth above, on July 17, 2014, in 
the Superior Court of California, Los Angeles County, in case number NA098717, 
respondent was convicted, on her plea of nolo contendere, for violating Penal Code section 
487, subdivision (a) (grand theft), a misdemeanor. The court found a factual basis for 
respondent's plea, suspended imposition of sentence, and placed respondent on summary 
probation for a period of three years with standard terms and conditions including serving 
one day in Los Angeles County Jail (less credit for one day) and paying fines totaling $220. 
Respondent has not yet completed paying her court-imposed fines. 

10. Respondent's employment as a registered pharmacy technician afforded her 
access to dangerous drugs such as hydrocodone, and she used her position to misappropriate 
that drug from her employer and then provide it to another person. Her misconduct and the 
resulting grand theft conviction evince her unfitness to perform the functions and duties of a 
registered pharmacy technician in a manner consistent with the public health, safety, and 
welfare. -------- ­

11. At the administrative hearing, respondent admitted to her misconduct. After 
her February 2013 termination from Walgreens, respondent worked as a waitress for an 
unspecified period of time, then as a pharmacy technician at JWCH Pharmacy MedQuest for 
one year and five months until her last day on November 26, 2014. In March 2014, 
respondent obtained PTCB2 certification. Respondent is currently unemployed. She is not 
involved in any civic or community organization. 

12. The Board incurred $4,745 as its costs of investigation and prosecution of this 
matter. These costs are reasonable pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 125.3. 

LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 

1. Business and Professions Code section 490 authorizes the Board to suspend or 
revoke respondent's pharmacy technician registration on the ground that respondent has been 
convicted of a crime, if the crime is substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or 
duties of pharmacy technician. A conviction means a plea or verdict of guilty or a conviction 
following a plea of nolo contendere. 

2 Pharmacy Technician Board Certification. 
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2. Business and Professions Code sections 4300 and 4301 authorize the Board to 
take disciplinary action against any licensee, such as respondent, who is guilty of 
unprofessional conduct. Section 4301, in particular, provides that "unprofessional conduct" 
includes, without limitation, the following: 

"(f) The commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, fraud, 
deceit, or corruption, whether the act is committed in the course of relations as 
a licensee or otherwise, and whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor or not. 

['11] ... ['11] 

(j) The violation of any of the statutes of this state, or any other state, or of the 
United States regulating controlled substances and dangerous drugs. 

['11] ... ['11] 

(1) The conviction of a crime substantially related to the qualifications, 
functions, and duties of a licensee under ... [the Pharmacy Law]. The record 
of conviction ... of a violation of the statutes of ... [California] regulating 
controlled substances or dangerous drugs shall be conclusive evidence of 
unprofessional conduct[.]" 

3. Business and Professional Code section 4022 classifies Hydrocodone/APAP, a 
Schedule III controlled substance pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 11056, 
subdivision (e)(4), as a dangerous drug. 

4. Business and Professions Code section 4060 prohibits the possession of any 
controlled substance as follows: 

A person shall not possess any controlled substance, except that furnished to a 
person upon the prescription of a physician, dentist, podiatrist, optometrist, · 
veterinarian, or naturopathic doctor pursuant to Section 3640.7, or furnished 
pursuant to a drug order issued by a certified nurse-midwife pursuant to 
Section 2746.51, a nurse practitioner pursuant to Section 2836.1, a physician 
assistant pursuant to Section 3502.1, a naturopathic doctor pursuant to Section 
3649.5, or &pharmactst pgrsuant to St;ction 4Q5::p, 4052.2, or 405?.6. Tl)is 
section does not apply to the possession of any controlled substance by a 
manufacturer, wholesaler, pharmacy, pharmacist, physician, podiatrist, dentist, 
optometrist, veterinarian, naturopathic doctor, certified nurse-midwife, nurse 
practitioner, or physician assistant, if in stock in containers correctly labeled 
with the name and address of the supplier or producer. 

5. Health and Safety Code section 11171 provides that it is unlawful to furnish a 
person with a controlled substance in California except in limited circumstances not applicable to 
this matter. 
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6. A crime or an act shall be considered to be substantially related to the 
qualifications, functions, or duties of a licensee or registrant if to a substantial degree it 
evidences present or potential unfitness to perform the functions authorized by the license in a 
manner consistent with the public health, safety, and welfare. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 16, § 1770.) 

7. Complainant has the burden of proving the allegations in the First Amended 
Accusation by "clear and convincing proof to a reasonable certainty." (Ettinger v. Board of 
Medical Quality Assurance (1982) 135 Cal.App.3d 853.) Complainant must establish the 
charging allegations by proof that is clear, explicit and unequivocal-so clear as to leave no 
substantial doubt, and sufficiently strong to command the unhesitating assent of every 
reasonable mind. (See In reMarriage ofWeaver (1990) 224 Cal.App.3d 478.) 

8. With respect to the First Cause for Discipline (Unprofessional Conduct-
Dishonesty) alleged in the First Amended Accusation, complainant has established by clear 
and convincing proof to a reasonable certainty that cause exists to suspend or revoke Pharmacy 
Technician Registration number TCH 83831 issued to respondent Christy Marie Carrillo 
pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 4300 and 4301, subdivision (f), and 
California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1770, in that respondent committed acts of 
dishonesty that are substantially related to the qualifications, functions, and duties of a pharmacy 
technician when she pilfered bottles of hydrocodone tablets during the course of her employment 
as a pharmacy technician at Walgreens Pharmacy store number 7870 as set forth in Factual 
Findings 6 through 8 and 10. 

9. With respect to the Second Cause for Discipline (Unprofessional Conduct-
Illegal Furnishing of Controlled Substance) alleged in the First Amended Accusation, 
complainant has established by clear and convincing proof to a reasonable certainty that 
cause exists to suspend and revoke Pharmacy Technician Registration number TCH 83831 
issued to respondent Christy Marie Carrillo pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 
4300 and 4301, subdivision G), in that respondent unlawfully furnished Hydrocodone/APAP 
10/325mg, a controlled substance, to another in violation of the Health and Safety Code as set 
forth in Factual Finding 6 and Legal Conclusion 5. 

10. With respect to the Third Cause for Discipline (Illegal Possession of 
Controlled Substance) alleged in the First Amended Accusation, complainant has established 
h/' clear and couvincing propf to .\1 reasonabje certainty that c.iluse exists to suspend and 
revoke Pharmacy Technician Registration min:iber TCH 83831lssued to respondent Christy 
Marie Carrillo pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 4300 and 4301, subdivision 
(j), in that respondent unlawfully possessed Hydrocodone/APAP 10/325mg, a controlled 
substance, in violation of the Pharmacy Law as set forth in Factual Finding 6 and Legal 
Conclusion 4. 

11. With respect to the Fourth Cause for Discipline (Conviction of a Substantially 
Related Crime) alleged in the First Amended Accusation, complainant has established by 
clear and convincing proof to a reasonable certainty that cause exists to suspend and revoke 

5 


http:Cal.App.3d
http:Cal.App.3d


Pharmacy Technician Registration number TCH 83831 issued to respondent Christy Marie 
Carrillo pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 490, 4300 and 4301, subdivision (1), 
and California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1770, in that respondent has been convicted 
of grand theft, a crime substantially related to the qualifications, functions, and duties of a 
registered pharmacy technician as set forth in Factual Findings 9 and 10. 

12. A determination that cause exists to discipline respondent's pharmacy 
technician registration does not end the inquiry. Such cause may be overcome with 
substantial, persuasive evidence of rehabilitation and good character. The Board has 
compiled a list of factors to evaluate whether a licensee has been rehabilitated from prior 
misconduct. That list, found in A Manual ofDisciplinary Guidelines and Model Disciplinary 
Orders (Revisedl0/2007), and which is incorporated by reference into the Board's 
regulations,3 includes the nature and severity of the act under consideration; the actual or 
potential harm to any consumer or to the public; a licensee's prior disciplinary record; 
aggravating evidence; rehabilitation evidence; the licensee's compliance with the terms of 
any sentence, probation, or parole; the time that has elapsed since commission of the act; and 
evidence of dismissal of any conviction under Penal Code section 1203.4. 

13. Respondent's violation of laws prohibiting her possession and furnishing of a 
controlled substance such as Hydrocodone/APAP 10/325mg constitutes "significant 
misconduct" under the Guidelines. In aggravation, respondent engaged in acts of dishonesty­
her theft from her employer-to facilitate her illegal possession and impermissible furnishing of 
the controlled substance to a third person. Respondent's misconduct occasioned her criminal 
conviction and the accompanying three-year probationary sentence which she has yet to 
complete. Respondent offered no evidence of good character or other evidence of mitigation or 
rehabilitation. Under these circumstances, cause to suspend or revoke respondent's pharmacy 
technician registration is warranted. 

14. Canse exists pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 125.3 to defer 
an award of costs. Under Zuckerman v. State Board ofChiropractic Examiners (2002) 29 
Cal.App.4th 32, 45, the Board must exercise its discretion to reduce or eliminate cost awards 
so as to prevent cost award statutes from deterring licensees with potentially meritorious 
claims or defenses from exercising their right to a hearing. "Thus the [Board] may not assess 
the full costs of investigation and prosecution when to do so will unfairly penalize a 
[licensee] who has committed some misconduct, but who has used the hearing process to 
c;>qtajn 41~missal qf other charges or a reduction in the severity of the discipline imposed." 
(!d.)· The Board,' in imposing costs in such situations, must consider the licens.ee's subjective 
good faith belief in the merits of his or her position and the Board must consider whether or 
not the licensee has raised a colorable defense. The Board must also consider the licensee's 
ability to make payment. 

15. In light of respondent's current unemployment and the likely negative effect that 
the Order below will have on respondent's earning ability, it would be unduly punitive to require 

3 Cal. Code Regs., tit 16, § 1760. 
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respondent to pay the Board's investigation and prosecutorial costs at this time. The Board may 
order respondent to pay its costs in the amount of $4,745 at such time and in such manner as the 
Board may direct, in the event respondent applies for re-licensure. 

ORDER 

1. Pharmacy Technician Registration number TCH 83831 issued to respondent 
Christy Marie Carrillo is revoked. 

2. Respondent Christy Marie Carrillo shall reimburse the Board the amount of 
$4,745 at such time and in such manner as the Board in its discretion may direct in the event 
respondent applies for re-licensure. 

DATED: December 5, 2014 

/) 7 / u 
~~~s~~~ 

Administrative Law Judge 
Office of Administrative Hearings 
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Attorney General of California 
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Supervising Deputy Attorney General 
LINDA L. SUN 
Deputy Attorney General 
State Bar No. 207108 


300 So. Spring Street, Suite I 702 

Los Angeles, CA 90013 

Telephone: (213) 897-6375 

Facsimile: (213) 897-2804 
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FffiST AMENDED ACCUSATION 

1-------------------------~ 

Complainant alleges: 


PARTIES 


I. Virginia Herold (Complainant) brings this First Amended Accusation solely in her 


official capacity as the Executive Officer of the Board of Pharmacy, Department of Consumer 


Affairs. 


2. On or about June 9, 2008, the Board of Pharmacy (Board) issued Pharmacy 

Technician Registration Number TCH 83831 to Christy Marie Carrillo (Respondent). The 

Pharmacy Technician Registration was in full force and effect at all times relevant to the charges 

brought herein and will expire on November 30, 2015, unless renewed. 

Ill 

Ill 

First Amended Accusation 
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JURISDICTlON 

3. This First Amended Accusation is brought before the Board under the authority of the 

following laws. All section references are to the Business and Professions Code unless otherwise 

indicated. 

4. Section 4300 of the Code states: 


"(a) Every license issued may be suspended or revoked." 


5. Section 4300.1 of the Code states: 

"The expiration, cancellation, forfeiture, or suspension of a board-issued license by operation 

oflaw or by order or decision of the board or a court oflaw, the placement of a license on a 

retired status, or the voluntary surrender of a license by a licensee shall not deprive the board of 

jurisdiction to commence or proceed with any investigation of, or action or disciplinary proceeding 

against, the licensee or to render a decision suspending or revoking the license." 

6. Section 4301 of the Code states: 


"The board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty ofunprofesJional 


conduct or whose license has been procured by fraud or misrepresentation or issued by mistake. 

Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited to, any of the following: 

"(f) The commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 

corruption, whether the act is committed in the course of relations as a licensee or otherwise, and 

whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor or not. 

"U) The violation of any of the statutes of this state, or any other state, or of the United 

States regulating controlled substances and dangerous drugs. 

"(1) The conviction of a crime substantially related to the qualifications, functions, and duties 

of a licensee under this chapter. The record of conviction of a violation of Chapter 13 

(commencing with Section 801) ofTitle 21 of the United States Code regulating controlled 
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substances or of a violation of the statutes of this state regulating controlled substances or 

dangerous drugs shall be conclusive evidence ofunprofessiona1 conduct. In all other cases, the 

record of conviction shall be conclusive evidence only of the fuel that the conviction occurred. The 

board may inquire into the circumstances surrounding the commission of the crime, in order to fix 

the degree of discipline or, in the case of a conviction not involving controlled substances or 

dangerous drugs, to determine if the conviction is of an offense substantially related to the 

qualifications, functions, and duties of a licensee under this chapter. A plea or verdict of guilty or a 

conviction following a plea ofnolo contendere is deemed to be a conviction within the meaning of 

this provision. The board may take action when the time for appeal has elapsed, or the judgment of 

conviction has been affinned on appeal or when an order granting probation is made suspending 

the imposition of sentence, irrespective of a subsequent order under Section 1203.4 of the Penal 

Code allowing the person to withdraw his or her plea of guilty and to enter a plea of not guilty, or 

setting aside the verdict of guilty, or dismissing the accusation, information, or indictment." 

7. Section 4060 of the Code states: 

"No person shall possess any controlled substance, except that furnished to a person upon 

the prescription of a physician, dentist, podiatrist, optometrist, veterinarian, or naturopathic doctor 

pursuant to Section 3640.7, or furnished pursuant to a drug order issued by a certified 

nurse-midwife pursuant to Section 2746.51, a nurse practitioner pursuant to Section 2836.1, or a 

physician assistant pursuant to Section 3502.1, or namropathic doctor pursuant to Section 3640.5, 

or a pharmacist pursuant to either subparagraph (D) ofparagraph (4) of, or clause (iv) of 

subparagraph (A) of paragraph (5) of, subdivision (a) of Section 4052. This section shall not apply 

to the possession of any controlled substance by a manufacturer, wholesaler, pharmacy, 

pharmacist, physician, podiatrist, dentist, optometrist, veterinarian, naturopathic doctor, certified 

nurse-midwife, nurse practitioner, or physician assistant, when in stock in containers correctly 

labeled with the name and address of the supplier or producer. 

"Nothing in this section authorizes a certified nurse-midwife, a nurse practitioner, a physician 

assistant, or a naturopathic doctor, to order his or her own stock of dangerous dmgs and 

devices." 

3 
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8. Health and Safety Code section 11171 states: ''No person shall prescribe, 

administer, or furnish a controlled substance except under the conditions and in the manner 

provided by this division." 

REGULATORY PROVISIONS 

9. California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1770 states, in pertinent part: 

"For the purpose of denial, suspension, or revocation of a personal or facility license 

pursuant to Division 1.5 (commencing with Section 475) of the Business and Professions Code, a 

crime or act shall be considered substantially related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a 

licensee or registrant if to a substantial degree it evidences present or potential unfitness of a 

licensee or registrant to perform the functions authorized by his license or registration in a manner 

consistent with the public health, safety, or welfare." 

COST RECOVERY PROVISION 

10. Section 125.3 of the Code states, in pertinent part, that the Board may request the 

administrative law judge to direct a licentiate found to have committed a violation or violations of 

the licensing act to pay a sum not to exceed the reasonable costs of the investigation and 

enforcement of the case. 

DRUG CLASSIFICATION 

11. Norco, brand name for hydrocodone/APAP, is a Schedule III controlled substance 

pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 11056(e)(4) and a dangerous drug pursuant to 

Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

SUMMARY OF FACTS 

12. On or about February 12, 2013, Respondent, while working as a pharmacy technician 

at Walgreens #7870, was arrested for theft of a controlled substance. Respondent admitted to her 

employers that between August 2012 to February 2013, she stole approximately 4,000 tablets (8 

bottles) ofhydrocodone/AP AP 10-325mg for a friend. On or about February 25, 2013, the Board 

received a copy of the Report of Theft or Loss of Controlled Substance notification from 

Walgreens #7870. The Report documented a loss of8,159 tablets ofhydrocodone/APAP 10­

4 
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325mg due to employee pilferage during the period from AprillO, 2009 to approximately 

February 12, 2013. 

FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Unprofessional Conduct- Dishonesty) 

13. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Code section 4301, subdivision (f) 

on the grounds of unprofessional conduct, in that while working as a pharmacy technician at 

Walgreens #7870, Respondent stole over 4,000 tablets ofhydrocodoneiAPAP 10-325. 

Complainant refers to and incorporates all the allegati::ms contained in paragraph 12 above, as 

though set forth fully. 

SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 


(Unprofessional Conduct- Illegal Furnishing of Controlled Substance) 


14. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Code section 4301, subdivision U) 

on the grounds of unprofessional conduct for violating Health and Safety Code section 11171, in 

that while working as a pharmacy technician at Walgreens #7870, Respondent illegally prescribed, 

administered or furnished hydrocodoneiAP AP 10-325 to another. Complainant refers to and 

incorporates all the allegations contained in paragraph 12 above, as though set forth fully. 

THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 


(Illegal Possession of Controlled Substance) 


15. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Code section4060, in that while 

working as a pharmacy technician at Walgreens #7870, Respondent illegally possessed over 4,000 

tablets ofhydrocodoneiAPAP 10-325. Complainant refers to and incorporates all the allegations 

contained in paragraph 12 above, as though set forth fully. 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

FOURTH CAUSE F0R DISCIPLINE 

(Conviction of a Substantially Related Crime) 
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16. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Code section 4301, subdivision (l) in 

conjunction with California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1770, in that Respondent was 

convicted of a crime substantially related to the qualifications, functions, and duties of a pharmacy 

technician, as follows: 

a. On or about July 21, 2014, pursuant to Respondent's nolo contendere plea, 

Respondent was convicted of one misdemeanor count of violating Penal Code section 487, 

subdivision (a) [grand theft] in the criminal proceeding entitled The People ofthe State of 

California v. Christy Marie Carrillo (Super. Ct. Los Angeles County, 2014, No. NA098717). 

The Court ordered Respondent to serve one day in jail and placed Respondent on three years of 

probation, with terms and conditions. Complainant refers to and incorporates all the allegations 

contained in paragraph 12 above, as though set forth fully. 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein alleged, 

and that following the hearing, the Board of Pharmacy issue a decision: 

1. Revoking or suspending Pharmacy Techr,ician Registration Number TCH 83831, 

issued to Christy Marie Carrillo; 

2. Ordering Christy Marie Carrillo to pay the Board ofPharmacy the reasonable costs of 

the investigation and enforcement of this case, pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 

125.3; 

3. Taking such other and further action as deemed necessary and 

LA2013510634 
51574067.doc 

Exe 

DATED: _q-1-+A-'-4-~d"'--Li__ 

Board of Pharmacy 
Department of Consumer Affairs · 
State of California 
Complai,iant 
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